NO. 48881-7-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION 775, Appellant/Plaintiff,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES, and THE EVERGREEN FREEDOM FOUNDATION d/b/a FREEDOM FOUNDATION, Appellees/Defendants.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

Dmitri Iglitzin, WSBA No. 17673 Jennifer L. Robbins, WSBA No. 40861 SCHWERIN CAMPBELL BARNARD IGLITZIN & LAVITT LLP 18 West Mercer Street, Suite 400 Seattle, WA 98119-3971

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Petitioner Service Employees International Union 775 (formerly SEIU Healthcare 775NW) ("SEIU 775") is the Plaintiff and Appellant below. SEIU 775 is a labor organization representing a statewide bargaining unit of individual providers of personal care services to functionally disabled individuals pursuant to Washington State's Medicaid program (hereinafter, "IPs").

SEIU 775 sought an injunction to prevent the Washington State Department of Social and Health Services ("DSHS") from providing to PRA requester and Respondent Freedom Foundation ("the Foundation") the "times and locations" of certain contracting appointments and safety and orientation trainings that public employees working as IPs must attend as part of their employment as IPs. Thurston County Superior Court Judge Mary Sue Wilson advanced and consolidated the hearing on SEIU 775's petition for a preliminary injunction with the hearing on SEIU 775's request for permanent injunctive relief and denied the request for an injunction. The Court of Appeals, Division II, affirmed.

II. DECISIONS BELOW

SEIU 775 seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published decision rendered in *SEIU Healthcare 775NW v. State of WA. Dept. of Soc. and Health Services*, No. 48881-7-II (April 25, 2017), which affirmed

the Thurston County Superior Court's March 25, 2016, order denying SEIU 775's request for a preliminary and permanent injunction. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages 0001-0012.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court which have found the "other statute" provision contained in RCW 42.56.070(1) to be met where disclosure would violate another statute, notwithstanding the fact that those other statutes did not expressly prohibit disclosure?
- 2. Does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with other Court of Appeals decisions which have found the "other statute" provision to be met where disclosure would violate another statute, notwithstanding the fact that those other statutes did not expressly prohibit disclosure?
- 3. Does the Court of Appeals decision involve an issue of substantial public interest where the decision found no PRA exemption applicable even in situations where disclosure would necessarily require an employer to commit an unfair labor practice and violate the Public Employees Collective Bargaining Act ("PECBA")?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

SEIU 775 is a labor organization which represents more than 43,000 long-term care workers who either contract with the State of

Washington, or who are employed by private home-care agencies and nursing homes in Washington and Montana. CP 44. Approximately 34,000 of these long-term care workers are IPs as that term is defined in RCW 74.39A.240. *Id.* IPs provide "personal care services," as defined in WAC 388-106-0010, to functionally disabled individuals throughout the state under the Medicaid personal care, community options program entry system, chore services program, or respite care program. RCW 74.39A.240(3). Pursuant to the provisions of RCW 74.39A.270 and RCW 41.56.026, SEIU 775 is the exclusive bargaining representative of all IPs.

IPs must attend contracting appointments and safety and orientation trainings as part of their employment. CP 45. The collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") between SEIU 775 and the State of Washington provides SEIU 775 with access to bargaining unit members at these two types of appointments. *Id.* These appointments generally take place at various DSHS facilities around the state, though DSHS representatives do not attend the portion of the appointments at which SEIU 775 speaks to the IPs. *Id.* The contracting appointments and safety and orientation trainings are not events open to the public, but are internal matters for the State and the IPs that are part of the operation of the homecare program. *Id.* There is no evidence that the State releases or has ever

released to the public the times, dates, and locations of other such internal meetings between the State and its employees. *Id*.

The Foundation is a Washington State organization aligned with anti-union interests that are ideologically opposed to the goals of SEIU 775, including SEIU 775's mission to improve the wages, benefits and working conditions of employees throughout Washington State. The Foundation regularly publicizes its goal to "defund" and "bankrupt" public sector unions, including SEIU 775, and efforts it is taking to attempt to accomplish that goal. CP 103-140. The Foundation advertises its mission to economically cripple unions like SEIU, and announces the details of steps it has taken or will take to "defund" and "bankrupt" public sector unions generally and SEIU specifically in order to raise funds from supporters and from the public. *Id.*; *see*, *e.g.*, CP 112-140 (calling public-sector unions a "rampant disease" and SEIU 775 "deceptive," "well-paid thugs," along with other disparaging phrases).

Since the U.S. Supreme Court issued its decision in *Harris v. Quinn*, __ U.S. __, 134 S. Ct. 2618, 189 L. Ed. 2d 620 (2014), the Foundation has sought to contact IPs working in Washington to encourage, assist, and incite them to drop their membership in and financial support of SEIU. CP 112-148, 159-162, 167-184, 187-189 (including fundraising letter from the Foundation's CEO Tom McCabe

boasting about the physical mailings, email blasts and robo-calls made to SEIU 925-represented child-care providers whose information it did obtain, to encourage the providers to withdraw membership in and economic support of the union, and document referencing door-to-door "Opt-Out" project launched after *Harris v. Quinn*).

In *Harris v. Quinn*, 134 S. Ct. 2618 (2014), the U.S. Supreme Court held that Illinois personal care assistants who chose not to join a public-sector union could not be compelled to pay an agency fee to support work that is related to the collective-bargaining process on the grounds that the personal care assistants were not "full-fledged public No court has ever held that home-care workers in employees." Washington State are similar to the workers in *Harris* or are properly characterized as "partial" or "quasi" public employees like the workers were in *Harris*, despite the invitation to do so. See Appendix at 0013-22 (Hoffman et al. v. Inslee et al., No. C14-200-MJP at 6 (WD Wash. August 16, 2016) (Order on Motions for Summary Judgment)) (holding that optout system for the deduction of dues and agency fees did not impermissibly infringe on the IPs' First Amendment rights). In fact, this Court recently made clear that this remains an open question. Thorpe v. Inslee, No. 92912-2, 2017 WL 1821182, at *1 (Wash. May 4, 2017) (noting that question of whether Harris applies to the Washington IP

question was not raised and consequently not addressed). The Foundation's oft-repeated claim that it seeks to inform IPs of their "constitutional right" to opt out of their union is therefore misleading.

The Foundation has attempted, through several PRA requests, to obtain the names and contact information of IPs represented by SEIU 775 in order to locate and contact them for these same purposes. CP 149-158 (Foundation fundraising letter informing recipients that in the previous year the Foundation requested from DSHS the names of IPs so it could encourage them to opt out of paying union dues); CP 167-171 (information piece announcing the number of care providers who have opted out of dues payments as a result of the Foundation's "door to door" efforts and plans to reach home healthcare providers); CP 194-207 (discovery responses discussing intended use of list of IP names).

The Foundation's efforts to diminish the membership of public-sector unions are not restricted to mailings or websites. The Foundation has implemented a door-to-door canvass and has gone directly to public-sector employees' workplaces to induce them to opt out of union membership and dues payments and to provide them a means for doing so. CP 141-145, 159-166, 187-189. For example, in December of 2015, the Foundation sent a "Santa Clause" to "greet government employees as they enter and exit their offices in Washington and Oregon" and to distribute

packets of materials encouraging workers to opt out of union membership and to cease paying union dues and providing them a letter to use by which to do so. CP 163-166. The "Freedom Foundation Santa" also made an appearance to "deliver that message in the cafeteria of the Washington State Department of Natural Resources." *Id*.

The Foundation attempts to accomplish its goal to "defund" and "bankrupt" SEIU 775 in part by discrediting, disparaging and undermining the Union to encourage and assist IPs to forego their membership in and economic support for SEIU. See, e.g., CP 103-140 (goal to "defund" and "bankrupt;" calling public-sector unions a "rampant disease"; graphic of "SEIU member" holding a billy club over a kneeling stick person, about to strike them); CP 159-162 (Foundation Web posting saying, "Within 24 hours of obtaining the list of exploited workers who fall under Harris V. Quinn, we sent out a mailing and began automated calls...From TV ads to attending childcare provider early achiever trainings to handing out literature and speaking with providers...the Freedom Foundation will be ongoing and relentless in the year to come."; referring to SEIU's contacts and relationship with its represented workers as a "scheme," "bullying," "intimidation," and "bribing"); CP 163-166 (Freedom Foundation Santa "has been visiting state workers this week to tell them how they can sever

ties from the *naughty* public employees' unions"; Santa's message included "why they should opt out" of the union) (emphasis added).

The Foundation's efforts to contact IPs are part and parcel of its attempts to diminish workers' support of their union by discrediting, disparaging and undermining the Union. CP 163-166; *see also* CP 324-326 (Foundation telling provider not to let SEIU "continue to trick and mislead you into their money making scheme" and stating that SEIU will "use scare tactics and deception" with providers who say they want to discontinue membership); CP 327-329 (misinformation about SEIU given during at-home visits by Freedom Foundation representatives).

In short, the Foundation's mission to "bankrupt" and "defund" SEIU 775 explicitly relies on contacting members or potential members of the Union directly wherever they may be—even at their places of employment—to discredit, disparage and undermine the Union and to encourage and assist IPs to forego their support for SEIU. CP 103-184.

In furtherance of the Foundation's efforts to find IPs wherever they are, Maxford Nelsen, the Foundation's Director of Labor Policy, submitted a PRA request dated January 12, 2016, to DSHS on behalf of the Foundation seeking in part "[t]he times and locations of all contracting appointments for individual providers held or to be held between November 1, 2015 and December 31, 2016," as well as "[t]he times and

locations of any state-sponsored or facilitated opportunities for individual providers to view the initial safety and orientation training videos ... held or to be held between November 1, 2015 and December 31, 2016." CP 93-95. Based on the Foundation's prior conduct and publicity surrounding its efforts to contact IPs to encourage and assist them to forego union membership and to not financially support SEIU 775, it cannot be disputed that if DSHS provides the Foundation with the times and locations of the contracting appointments and/or trainings, the Foundation will attempt to attend those appointments or to contact IPs as they come or go from those appointments to disparage and discredit SEIU 775 and to encourage IPs to cease or withhold union membership and/or dues.

DSHS has identified the documents it intends to disclose to the Foundation in response to the relevant portions of its PRA request as "201601-PRR-360 MSD HQ 0001-0062." CP 45. These documents consist of plans by various State agencies to implement Article 2.3 of the 2015-2017 CBA, along with correspondence and other documents that happen to contain, among nonresponsive information, the times and locations of contracting and/or orientation appointments for IPs. *Id.* SEIU 775 objected to the production of these records, and DSHS indicated it would provide the documents unless SEIU 775 obtained an injunction by March 18, 2016. CP 45.

On March 10, 2016, SEIU 775 filed suit in Thurston County Superior Court for declaratory and injunctive relief. CP 8-18. On March 11, 2016, SEIU 775 filed a motion for preliminary injunction, with a hearing date of March 18, 2016. CP 26-41. The hearing was later moved to March 25, 2016. *See* CP 367.

At the hearing, the Honorable Mary Sue Wilson advanced and consolidated the hearing on Plaintiff's motion for a preliminary injunction with a hearing on Plaintiff's request for permanent injunctive relief, under Civil Rule 65(a)(2). CP 386-388. The court then issued an order denying SEIU 775's request for a preliminary and permanent injunction. *Id.* Also on March 25, in order that the fruits of Plaintiff's appeal would not be completely destroyed, Judge Wilson entered an order staying the court's order on preliminary and permanent injunctive relief and temporarily enjoining DSHS from disclosing the requested records for a period of 14 days to allow SEIU 775 to seek emergency injunctive relief from this Court pending appeal. CP 389.

The Court of Appeals issued its decision affirming the denial of injunctive relief on April 25, 2017. App. 1-12.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Summary of Argument

The Court should accept discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decision pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). Review is warranted pursuant to 13.4(b)(2) because the decision is in conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in *White v. Clark Cty.*, 188 Wn. App. 622, 354 P.3d 38 (2015), *rev. denied.* 185 Wn.2d 1009, 366 P.3d 1245 (2016), which makes clear that the "other statute" provision can be satisfied where another statute operates to effectively prohibit disclosure of the records, even if no particular provision does so expressly.

Review is also warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the decision is in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wn.*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) ("*PAWS II*") and *John Doe v. Wash. State Patrol*, 185 Wn.2d 363, 374 P.3d 63 (2016) ("*Wash. State Patrol*").

Finally, review is warranted because the decision involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) because whether or not the PRA can compel to disclose documents even where disclosure would be prohibited by the PECBA is an issue with wide-ranging applicability, potentially requiring all public employers to commit unfair labor practices.

B. The Decision Conflicts with Published Court of Appeals Decisions.

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the decision is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. The decision below found that because no PECBA provision prohibits a public employer from releasing records or addresses privacy or confidentiality, the "other statute" provision could not apply, regardless of whether disclosure would violate the PECBA.

This is in direct conflict with *White v. Clark Cty.*, where the Court of Appeals found the "other statute" provision was met by combining Article VI, Section 6, of the Washington Constitution, multiple sections of 29A RCW, and secretary of state regulations, which collectively operated to ensure ballot security and secrecy. 188 Wn. App. at 636. Therefore, the Court concluded that the PRA prohibited disclosure of digital copies of election ballots. *Id.* at 634, 635-36.

Just as in this case, no single statute or regulation contained an express prohibition or exemption of a specific record. *Id.* at 631 ("no single provision provides a comprehensive PRA exemption for ballot images," but finding "other statute" exemption from combination of other sources). Instead, the Court concluded that statutes dictating that ballots be kept secure together with regulations ensuring the secrecy of ballots

operated to necessarily prohibit digital copies of ballots from being disclosed. "Because these provisions are inconsistent with producing copies of ballots and ballot images to a third person under the PRA they constitute an express 'other statute' exemption for ballots and ballot images…" *Id.* at 637.

The result in *White* cannot be reconciled with the Court's opinion below. If the Court of Appeals had applied the same analysis in *White* as it did here, the absence of an express statutory prohibition on disclosing ballots would have been fatal to the effort to protect the secrecy of ballots and public disclosure of the ballots would have been compelled. The court below wrongfully ignored the decision in *White* by concluding that the PECBA could not qualify as an "other statute" exemption, despite the fact that various portions of the Act prohibit employers from committing unfair labor practices and disclosure of the records in question would constitute an unfair labor practice. Review should be granted.

C. The Decision Below Conflicts with Prior Decisions of This Court Finding that the "Other Statute" Provision Applies Where Nondisclosure of Records is Necessary to Prevent Violation of Another Statute.

Review is also appropriate here pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the decision below conflicts with previous holdings of this Court. In *PAWS II*, 125 Wn.2d 243, this Court found that the "other statute"

provision applied notwithstanding the fact that no other statute contained an express prohibition on disclosure where the policies underlying two other statutes made clear that disclosure would run afoul of those statutes. First, the Court found that the Uniform Trade Secrets Act ("UTSA") operated as an independent limit on disclosure where disclosure would interfere with the UTSA's purpose of protecting trade secrets, even though no provision of that Act expressly dealt with confidentiality or records disclosure. *Id.* at 262. Second, the Court held that RCW 4.24.580 met the "other statute" provision where disclosure would undermine the legislative intent to protect animal researchers from harassment:

Quite clearly, the Legislature intended to forestall the kinds of threats, harassment, and intimidation that have become all too familiar to those attempting to carry out legitimate biomedical research. We hold that researchers may seek to enjoin the release of certain portions of public records if the nondisclosure of those portions is necessary to prevent harassment as defined under the antiharassment statute.

Id. at 263.

The second holding in *PAWS II* should have been dispositive here. Just as in the instant case, the antiharassment statute did not expressly prohibit the University from disclosing records, but disclosure would have done violence to the legislative policies underlying "other statute" and would have violated those laws. The Court of Appeals decision below cannot be reconciled with *PAWS II*, as the anti-harassment statute in

PAWS II lacked an explicit reference to disclosure or confidentiality. The decision below acknowledged but did not resolve that conflict when it observed: "To the extent that PAWS II is inconsistent with the holding in Washington State Patrol that a statute must expressly prohibit or exempt the release of records to qualify as an 'other statute,' Washington State Patrol's holding controls." SEIU 775 v. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., No. 48881-7-II, 2017 WL 1469319 at *11 (2017).

But this Court's recent decision in *Washington State Patrol* did not overrule *PAWS II*. In fact, *Washington State Patrol* favorably discussed *PAWS II* by observing that if the Legislature had wanted to protect level I sex offenders in that case from harassment, "as it protected animal researchers from harassment in *PAWS II*," it could have done so expressly. *Wash. State Patrol*, 185 Wn.2d at 378-79. This observation makes clear that this Court continues to interpret the PRA in a manner applied in *PAWS II*, such that the animal researcher anti-harassment statutes operated as an "other statute" that exempted records from disclosure when disclosure would result in a violation of those laws, even though the anti-harassment statutes did not explicitly reference disclosure or

confidentiality of records.¹ This Court should accept review to make clear that *PAWS II* is still the law of the land which courts of appeals may not disregard.

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