FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/23/2017 3:57 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 94563-2

(Court of Appeals Case No. 48881-7-II)

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION II

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION 775NW, Appellant/Plaintiff,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES, and THE EVERGREEN FREEDOM FOUNDATION d/b/a FREEDOM FOUNDATION, Respondent/Defendants.

RESPONDENT FREEDOM FOUNDATION'S ANSWER TO SEIU 775NW'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

Stephanie Olson, WSBA # 50100
FREEDOM FOUNDATION
P.O. Box 552, Olympia, WA 98507
Phone (360) 956-3482, Fax (360) 352-1874
SOlson@freedomfoundation.com

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

IV. ARGUMENT

1. The decision below does not conflict with published Washington Court of Appeals decisions.

SEIU 775 materially misrepresents the holding of *White v. Clark* to justify its first "confliction" argument. *See White v. Clark*, 188 Wn. App. 622, 630-31, 354 P.3d 38 (2015), *rev. denied*, 185 Wn.2d 1009, 366 P.3d

1245 (2016). RAP 13.4(b)(2). The question in *White* was not whether courts could cobble together implied exemptions from various legal authorities to create an "other statute exemption," as SEIU implies. Pet. for Discretionary Review at 12. Rather, *White*'s central question was whether *regulations*—that expressly prohibited the disclosure of pre-tabulated ballots—could operate as "other statute" exemption under the PRA. *White*, 188 Wn. App 635. The court looked to Washington's Constitution and related statutes to justify why *regulations* qualified as an "other *statute*" exemption under the PRA. *Id*. at 633-34.

In White, Mr. Timothy White requested copies of the pre-tabulated ballots cast in a county election. Id. at 628. In deciding whether the pre-tabulated ballots were exempt from disclosure, the court affirmed that "[a]n 'other statute' exemption applies only if that statute explicitly identifies an exemption; the PRA does not allow a court to imply such an exemption." Id. at 631. The Court acknowledged Article VI, section 6 of the Washington Constitution and RCW 29A.40.110(2) and RCW 29A.60.110 did not expressly prohibit the disclosure of processed, pre-tabulated ballots—but two secretary of state regulations explicitly did. Therefore, the central "question...is whether these secretary of state regulations can provide the basis for a PRA exemption." Id. at 635. The court reasoned that because Article VI, section 6 expressly provided the Legislature the right to secure

the secrecy of votes, and because the Legislature *expressly* delegated to the Secretary of State the authority to effectuate any provision of Title 29A RCW, and *because the regulations expressly required the secrecy of pre-tabulated ballots*, then the regulations "create an 'other statute' exemption to the PRA under RCW 42.56.070(1) for pre-tabulated ballot images." *Id.* at 635-36. SEIU warps *Wright*'s central holding by arguing that "Just as in this case, no single statute or regulation contained an express prohibition or exemption of a specific record." Pet. for Discretionary Review at 12. The quote SEIU misleadingly cites refers to *statutory* provisions discussed in *White*, not the explicitly prohibitory regulations. *White*, 188 Wn. App. at 631, 634-35.

Here, the decision below squarely complies with *White*. Just as in *White*, Judge Maxa—who also authored *White*—began by affirming the longestablished principle that courts "will find an 'other statute' exemption only when the legislature has made it explicitly clear that a specific record, or portions of it, is exempt or otherwise prohibited from production in response to a public records request." *SEIU 775 v. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, et al., ____ P.3d ___, 198 Wn. App. 745 (2017) (quoting *John Doe A. v. Wash. State Patrol*, 185 Wn.2d 363, 371, 374 P.3d 63 (2016)). Then, unlike the Constitutional, statutory and regulatory provisions in *White*, Judge Maxa correctly acknowledged that "PECBA does not explicitly

exempt or prohibit the release of records or information that would constitute an unfair labor practice. *In fact, the PECBA does not even mention any records or information*." *SEIU 775*, 2017 WL 1469319 at *4 (emphasis added). SEIU fails to point to any PECBA provision throughout the entirety of its Petition to refute this dispositive argument. That is largely because SEIU's counsel has already conceded that PECBA omits any express references to records or the confidentiality of any information during oral arguments below:

YOUR HONOR 2: So, can...I follow up with Judge Maxa's question? So, the Supreme Court in the recent case of Washington State Patrol said to qualify as an other statute exemption under the .070(1) that statute must specifically exempt or prohibit from production a specific record. So, what you're arguing to us here is even though the statute here doesn't specifically say that, by disclosing it would violate some other provision.

Ms. Robbins: That's correct, Your Honor...

JUDGE MAXA: So, you're saying we should expand that even though the—the statute you're dealing with, the PECBA, doesn't talk about confidentiality, doesn't talk about records, we—we should expand those cases that do talk about confidentiality and records to cover this situation,

Ms. Robbins: That's right.

See Appendix A (Ct. of App. Tr. 9:20-10:3, 11:1-6, Feb. 28, 2017).

Upon a complete reading of *White*, it is obvious that the holding below squarely comports with *White*. Both affirm the well-established rule that a statute (or regulation expressly deriving its authority from legislation) must expressly prohibit the release of records. If, like PECBA, it does not, then

that statute is categorically precluded from qualifying as an "other statute" exemption under the PRA.

2. The decision below does not conflict with this Court's prior decisions.

Next, SEIU contorts the holdings of *PAWS II*,⁴ Washington State Patrol⁵ and Hangartner⁶ to argue that the decision below conflicts with each. Yet its argument merely presents a less-supported repetition of the Washington State Patrol dissenting opinion, which a majority of this Court soundly (and quite recently) rejected. Further, unlike any of the statutes in PAWS II, Washington State Patrol, and Hangartner, PECBA fails to contain any reference to any records or confidentiality, or any indication of legislative intent even hinting against the disclosure of public records. See Appendix A (Ct. of App. Tr. 9:20-10:3, 11:1-6, Feb. 28, 2017).

SEIU begins by misstating the holding of *PAWS II*, writing that this Court "found that the Uniform Trade Secrets Act ("UTSA") operated as an independent limit on disclosure where disclosure would interfere with the UTSA's purpose of protecting trade secrets, even though no provision of the Act expressly dealt with confidentiality or records disclosure." Pet. at 14. That statement is patently false. The *PAWS II* Court directly addressed

⁴ Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. University of Washington ("PAWS II"), 125 Wn.2d 243, 884 P.2d 592 (1994).

⁵ Doe ex rel v. Washington State Patrol, 185 Wn.2d 363, 374 Wn.2d 363 (2016).

⁶ Hangartner v. City of Seattle, 151 Wn.2d 439, 453, 90 P.3d 26 (2004).

the UTSA's express protection of trade secrets, including permitting injunctive relief to prevent the disclosure of trade secrets. *PAWS II*, 125 Wn.2d at 262-63. The anti-harassment statute at issue in *PAWS II* also expressly provided for injunctive relief against acts that would definitively violate the statute. *Id.* at 263-64.

SEIU also twists the holding of *Hangartner*, stating that this Court held that an attorney-client privilege statute operated as an 'other statute' "even though nothing in that statute expressly dealt with disclosure or confidentiality of records." Pet. for Discretionary Review at 16. Again, not true; the statute at issue in *Hangartner* expressly addressed the confidentiality of records. As this Court noted,

RCW 5.60.060(2)(a) provides that "[a]n attorney or counselor shall not, without the consent of his or her client, be examined as to any communication made by the client to him or her, or his or her advice given thereon in the course of professional employment."

Hangartner, 151 Wn.2d at 451. The Court reasoned that "[t]he language the legislature used in RCW 42.17.260(1) is clear and plainly establishes that documents that fall within the attorney-client privilege are exempt from disclosure under the PDA." Hangartner, 151 Wn.2d at 453. This Court reaffirmed its position of those cases most recently in Washington State Patrol:

The dissent claims that under our holding. both *Hangartner* and *PAWS II* would have a different result. Not so. In *Hangartner*, the attorney-client privilege statute used broad prohibitive language to prevent the disclosure of privileged documents in particular situations. In PAWS II, we held that both the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (UTSA), chapter 19.108 RCW, and the anti-harassment statute were "other statutes." The UTSA authorized an injunction to protect trade secrets where a showing was made that such protection was necessary. Additionally, PAWS II cited to legislative history in which the legislature declared "it a matter of public policy that the confidentiality of such information be protected and its unnecessary disclosure be prevented." The same is true of the antiharassment statute.

Washington State Patrol, 185 Wn.2d at 404, n. 5 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis in original). This Court has already acknowledged SEIU's arguments, which the dissent argued in Washington State Patrol, and explicitly rejected them. Id. Yet, even more frustrating, the facts in this case are materially different than PAWS II and Hangartner because PECBA undisputedly contains no reference to records, or information, or confidentiality whatsoever. SEIU's second "confliction" argument is meritless.

3. The decision below does not warrant review on public interest grounds.

Finally, SEIU ignores the plain language of the PRA regarding "public interest," and attempts to use a 'public interest' argument to introduce a new argument that has never been adjudicated by any court. It does so in tacit acknowledgment of the failure of its primary PECBA argument. In

summary, SEIU argues that DSHS's compliance with the PRA, and the subsequent communications between the Foundation and homecare providers—that numerous Washington courts have called political speech—would qualify as an unfair labor practice ("ULP") in violation of PECBA.

SEIU's argument lacks merit for at least three reasons. First, the people of Washington have already decided that the 'public interest' *always* favors disclosure in disputes regarding public records. RCW 42.56.030.⁷ SEIU's attenuated and wholly unsupported public interest argument cannot overcome clear statutory language reinforced by decades of case law. Second, SEIU's 'public interest' argument requires this Court to recognize that disclosure of public records would actually qualify as a ULP as a matter of law, which no court has ever held. This Court does not have original jurisdiction to do so here. WASH. CONST. Art. IV. § 4. It is also beyond the scope of a public records case, as public records may only be enjoined by an explicitly enumerated exemption in the PRA, the Washington Constitution, or in another statute. *White v. Clark*, 188 Wn. App. 622, 630-31, 354 P.3d 38 (2015). The inapplicability of each automatically equates to the disclosure of public records, bar none. Third, even if this Court

-

⁷ See also Resident Action Council v. Seattle Housing Authority, 177 Wn.2d 417, 413, 327 P.3d 600 (2013); PAWS II, 125 Wn.2d at 251.

considered at this late stage the merits of SEIU's previously un-adjudicated argument, it completely lacks merit.

The public interest always favors disclosure of nonexempt public records.

SEIU's public interest argument omits any citation to supportive authority and ignores the PRA's unquestioned public interest in the disclosure of non-exempt public records. RCW 42.56.030. This Court has long recognized that, to preserve the sovereignty of Washington citizens and the accountability of public officials, courts must consider the PRA's policy that free and open examination of public records is in the public interest. *PAWS II*, 125 Wn.2d at 251. In cases involving public records, the 'public interest' always favors disclosure. *Id.* SEIU's 'public interest' argument relies solely on its unproven and meritless assumption that disclosure constitutes a ULP, which was neither adjudicated nor raised below. Instead, the Foundation's outreach efforts, which SEIU characterizes as a ULP, is political speech, which multiple courts have recognized.⁸ The public interest in this case clearly favors disclosure.

-

⁸ See Boardman v. Inslee et al., No. C17-5255 BHS, 2017 WL 1957131 (W.D. Wash. May 11, 2017) ("Plaintiffs, in particular Plaintiff Freedom Foundation, have been attempting for years to obtain up-to-date public records of contact information for...[IPs]. Plaintiffs use the information...to contact homecare providers to inform them of their constitutional right...to opt out of union membership and dues, as announced in Harris v. Quinn[.]."); SEIU Healthcare 775 NW v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 193 Wn. App. 377, 406, 967 P.2d 1284 (2016), rev denied, 186 Wn.2d 1016; Serv. Emps. Int'l Union Local 925 v. Freedom Foundation, 197 Wn. App. 203, n. 4, 389 P.3d 641 (2016); SEIU 775 v. Elbandagji et al., No. 16-2-13095-0 (King Cty. Sup. Ct. June 16, 2017) ("I do not find that

b. Whether disclosure qualifies as a ULP is a separate question of law that this Court does not have original jurisdiction to decide.

SEIU ignores the law that discusses the 'public interest' under RCW 42.56.030 and instead argues that its entirely illusory ULP argument would satisfy the "public interest" prong. Yet in order to determine that the disclosure of public records gives rise to an 'untenable conflict,' this Court must first determine that disclosure actually qualifies as a ULP. Whether the disclosure of public records qualifies as ULP is a separate question of law that no court has ever held in the affirmative. The courts below specifically declined to consider it. SEIU 775 v. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 2017 WL 1469319 at *n.1; CP 382-384. This court cannot consider the merits of the ULP argument for the first time here because it does not have original jurisdiction on this issue. WA CONST. ART. 4, § 4. Further, it is well-established that issues not clearly stated in a petition for review are waived and should be stricken. See RAP 13.4(c)(5); RAP 13.7(b); State v. Gossage, 165 Wn.2d 1, 6, 195 P.3d 525 (2008), cert. denied, 557 U.S. 926 (2009); State v. Buchanan, 138 Wn.2d 186, 196, 978 P.2d 1070 (1999), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 1154 (2000). An issue may be

SEIU has demonstrated that the Freedom Foundation has wrongfully communicated with SEIU members or used SEIU's confidential information to harass SEIU members or employees. The Freedom Foundation is entitled to contact SEIU members, and prior restraint of its efforts to do so is impermissible.").

waived even if it is argued, if it is not separately identified as an issue for review. See State v. Korum, 157 Wn.2d 614, 623-24, 141 P.3d 13 (2006) (declining to consider an ancillary argument because it was not clearly raised in the concise statement of issues). Here, just like in Korum, SEIU never raised the ULP argument in its statement of issues, and this Court should decline to consider it for the first time here.

c. Even if this Court considered whether disclosure of public records qualifies as a ULP for the first time here, the argument is wholly meritless.

SEIU conclusorily claims that "disclosure would undisputedly constitute an unfair labor practice." This is, of course, not true, as the Foundation has extensively briefed below. It then cursorily glazes over RCW 41.56.040, .140. and .040, without further discussion into the well-established related rules and applications. Arguendo, even if this Court now considered the ULP argument, there is absolutely no way that the disclosure of public records of contracting schedules could possibly be a ULP.

RCW 41.56.040 prohibits the interference of public employees' rights to organize. RCW 41.56.040. As the complaining party, SEIU carries the burden of proving unlawful interference by a preponderance of the evidence. *Pasco Housing Authority*, Decision 5927-A 1997, 1997 WL 810882 (PECB, 1997), *aff'd*, 98 Wn. App. 809, 991 P.2d 1177 (2000). "An interference violation will be found when employees could reasonably

perceive the employers' actions as a threat of reprisal or force or promise of benefit associated with the union activity of that employee or of other employees." *Pasco Housing Authority*, Decision 5927-A 1997 (PECB, 1997), *aff'd*, 98 Wn. App. 809, 991 P.2d 1177 (2000) (emphasis in original). "If the setting, the conditions, the methods, or other probative context can be appraised, in reasonable probability, as having the effect of restraining or coercing the employees in the exercise of such rights, then his activity on the part of the employer is violative of [Section 8(a)(1)] of the Act." *Taylor Rose Mfg. Corp.*, 205 NLRB 262, 265 (1973), *enforcement granted*, *NLRB v. Taylor-Rose Mfg. Corp.*, 493 F.2d 1398 (2d Cir. 1974).

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